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CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES, RULINGS, AND RELATED CASES

Pursuant to D.C. Circuit Rule 28(a)(1), Petitioner Amazon Services 

LLC (Amazon) submits the following Certificate as to Parties, Rulings, 

and Related Cases: 

A. Parties and Amici

The parties to the agency proceedings were Amazon Services LLC 

and the Administrator of the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service 

(APHIS). Although the Complaint named Amazon Services LLC, the 

correct entity name is Amazon.com Services LLC. This error does not 

affect the proceedings. 

The parties to this appeal are Petitioner Amazon.com Services LLC 

and Respondent United States Department of Agriculture. See Fed. R. 

App. P. 15(a)(2), (B) (“The petition must … name the agency as a 

respondent ….”). 

As of the date of this filing, no intervenor or amicus curiae has 

appeared in this appeal, nor did any appear in the agency proceedings. 

B. Rulings Under Review

Amazon seeks review of the Decision and Order Denying 

Respondent’s Appeal Petition and Affirming the Initial Decision and 

Order of the Chief Administrative Law Judge. This ruling was issued on 

February 2, 2022, by the Honorable John Walk, Judicial Officer of the 
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Department of Agriculture, and is in the Joint Appendix at JA __–__. 

There is no official citation for the ruling.  

C. Related Cases

This petition for review has not previously been before this Court 

or any other court. Amazon is not aware of any related cases.  

 

Dated: July 11, 2022 Respectfully submitted, 

 

By: /s/ William Brendan Murphy 

William Brendan Murphy 

PERKINS COIE LLP 

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 

Seattle, WA  98101-3099 

Telephone: 206.359.8000 

BMurphy@perkinscoie.com 

 

Counsel for Petitioner Amazon  

Services LLC 
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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 

and D.C. Circuit Rule 26.1, Amazon certifies that:  

1. The sole member of Amazon.com Services LLC is Amazon.com 

Sales, Inc., which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amazon.com, Inc. 

2. Amazon.com, Inc. is a publicly traded company (NASDAQ: 

AMZN) and no publicly held corporation owns ten percent or more of its 

stock. 
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GLOSSARY

Abbreviation or

Acronym

Definition

AHPA Animal Health Protection Act  

(7 U.S.C. §§ 8301 et seq.) 

APHIS Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service 

BSA Amazon Services Business Solutions Agreement 

CBP U.S. Customs and Border Protection 

Department United States Department of Agriculture 

FBA Fulfillment by Amazon 

FC Amazon Fulfillment Center 

IOR Importer of Record 

Order United States Decision and Order Denying 

Respondent’s Appeal Petition and Affirming the 

Initial Decision and Order of the Chief 

Administrative Law Judge, PPA/AHPA Dkt. No. 

19-J-01467 

PPA Plant Protection Act  

(7 U.S.C. §§ 7701 et seq.) 

SOA Selling on Amazon 
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Amazon seeks review of the Decision and Order Denying 

Respondent’s Appeal Petition and Affirming the Initial Decision and 

Order of the Chief Administrative Law Judge, PPA/AHPA Dkt. No. 19-J-

0146 (the “Order”), issued on February 2, 2022. The Department had 

subject-matter jurisdiction under the Animal Health Protection Act, 7 

U.S.C. § 8313(b)(1), and the Plant Protection Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7734(b)(1). 

Its order “assessing a civil penalty” is a “final order reviewable under 

chapter 158 of Title 28.” 7 U.S.C. §§ 7734(b)(4), 8313(b)(4). This Court 

has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 2349(a). Amazon timely 

petitioned for review on April 1, 2022. See 28 U.S.C. § 2344.  
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INTRODUCTION

The Department applied an unprecedented and incorrect 

construction of the Animal Health Protection Act (AHPA) and Plant 

Protection Act (PPA) to treat Amazon as the importer of products shipped 

to the United States by third parties. Amazon did not take any action to 

import the products. To the contrary, it is undisputed that third parties, 

not Amazon, obtained the products, shipped them into the United States, 

and addressed them to an Amazon facility. The Department determined 

that Amazon provided “benefits” to those third parties by offering lawful 

services that the third parties desired to use, and thereby “did ‘aid, abet, 

cause, or induce’ the restricted products to be moved into the United 

States.” Order at 28. But the statutes do not define “import” as providing 

benefits that third parties might wish to use, and there is no basis for 

that unprecedented expansion of the law.  

The statutory “aid, abet, cause, or induce” words that the 

Department purported to apply are secondary liability concepts with 

long-established meanings. They require knowledge of and substantial 

assistance to third parties’ wrongdoing. There is no evidence of either 

here, which is why the Department could point only to lawful business 

services as liability-generating “benefits.” The Department 

impermissibly sidestepped the failure of proof by deciding that 

“knowledge [of wrongdoing] and substantial assistance are not required 

to find a violation of the AHPA or PPA.” Order at 29.  
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These elements have long been part of the legal firmament of 

secondary liability and provide essential protection from boundless 

liability for providing lawful services. In stripping them from the 

statutes, the Department disregarded numerous precedents from the 

Supreme Court, this Court, and many other courts, including a decision 

from the Tenth Circuit interpreting the same basic language in a 

Department regulation. Moreover, it offered no reason to believe that 

Congress intended secondary liability in the AHPA and PPA to have a 

radically different meaning from other areas of the law.  

The Department exceeded its statutory authority and its Order 

should be reversed with directions to enter judgment in favor of Amazon.   

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

First, did the Department misconstrue the “aid, abet, cause, or 

induce” language in the AHPA and PPA as not requiring “knowledge and 

substantial assistance”—and instead applying an unsupported extra-

textual “benefits provided” test—despite the overwhelming weight of 

precedent requiring these elements for secondary liability?  

Second, did the Department err in reaching the same 

unsupportable outcome with an alternative finding that providing 

legitimate business services that third parties misused amounts to 

knowledge of and substantial assistance to wrongdoing? 
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Third, did the Department abuse its discretion by imposing the 

maximum statutory penalty without properly considering the mandatory 

and discretionary penalty factors in the statutes? 

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

The Department based its Order on the “aid, abet, cause, or induce” 

language in the AHPA and PPA. Order at 16. The AHPA applies to the 

alleged violations involving animal products (Compl. ¶¶ 2.1–2.8, 2.10–

2.17) and the PPA applies to those involving plant products (id. ¶¶ 2.18–

2.23). 

Congress defined “import” in both statutes as “to move” something 

into the United States. 7 U.S.C. §§ 7702(5); 8302(7). There are slight 

immaterial variations in the statutes’ definitions of “move.” The AHPA 

defines “move” as:  

(A) to carry, enter, import, mail, ship, or transport; 

(B) to aid, abet, cause, or induce carrying, entering, importing,

mailing, shipping, or transporting; 

(C) to offer to carry, enter, import, mail, ship, or transport; 

(D) to receive in order to carry, enter, import, mail, ship, or 

transport; 

(E) to release into the environment; or 

(F) to allow any of the activities described in this paragraph.  

7 U.S.C. § 8302(12) (key language bolded for emphasis). The PPA’s 

version of subpart (B) states “to aid, abet, cause, or induce the carrying, 
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entering, importing, mailing, shipping, or transporting.” 7 U.S.C. 

§ 7702(9) (variation shown in italics). 

Unlike the statutes, the regulatory definitions diverge from each 

other but are either parallel to, or are narrower than, their respective 

statutes. The definition of “move” under the PPA regulations tracks the 

statutory definition, 7 C.F.R. § 319.7, but the AHPA regulations define 

“import” more narrowly as “[t]o bring into the territorial limits of the 

United States.” 9 C.F.R. § 94.0. The AHPA regulations, unlike the PPA 

regulations, do not include concepts of secondary liability. The 

Department applied the statutory definitions.  

The AHPA and PPA specify mandatory and discretionary factors for 

imposing a civil penalty. The Department must “take into account the 

nature, circumstance, extent, and gravity of the violation” in determining 

a penalty. 7 U.S.C. §§ 7734(b)(2), 8313(b)(2). And the Department “may 

consider” the “ability to pay;” the “effect on ability to continue to do 

business;” “any history of prior violations;” “the degree of culpability;” 

and “any other factors the Secretary considers appropriate.” 7 U.S.C. 

§ 7734(b)(2); 7 U.S.C. § 8313(b)(2) (immaterial variations). 

These statutes and regulations are appended in Addendum A. 

USCA Case #22-1052      Document #1954416            Filed: 07/11/2022      Page 19 of 123



 

-5- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Third parties sell products on Amazon.com.

Amazon operates an online store in which Amazon and millions of 

third parties sell products. Declaration of Vincent Liu (“Liu Decl.”) ¶ 4. 

Third-party sellers “are independent from Amazon and make their own 

product sourcing and pricing decisions.” Order at 4; see also Liu Decl. ¶ 5.  

Sellers enter into the Amazon Services Business Solutions 

Agreement (BSA) before they can sell products in Amazon’s store. Liu 

Decl. ¶ 13. The BSA makes clear that sellers are independent from 

Amazon and are responsible for procuring and selling their own products. 

Id. Ex. 1 at 6, 16. Sellers decide what and when to sell, decide where to 

procure their products, own their products, and set their prices. Liu Decl. 

¶ 6.1  

Sellers agree that their products and any “offer and subsequent 

sale” of those products will “comply with all applicable Laws.” Id. Ex. 1 

at 3, 15. Sellers also agree to be bound by Program Policies, which include 

“terms, conditions, policies, guidelines, rules and other information on 

the applicable Amazon Site or on Seller Central.” Liu Decl. Ex. 1 at 12. 

The animal and plant pages in Seller Central, which is an online portal 

for sellers, reminds sellers that “[a]ll listings and products must comply 

with all laws and regulations.” Liu Decl. Ex. 10 at 1; see also Ex. 9 at 1. 

 
1 Amazon’s programs are described as they existed in 2015 and 2016, 

when the acts alleged in the Complaint took place. Liu Decl. ¶ 3. 
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Amazon also makes clear that the “sale of illegal or unsafe products or 

products that violate Amazon policy is strictly prohibited” and can “lead 

to legal action, including civil and criminal penalties.” Liu Decl. Ex. 8 at 

1. Sellers who “supply a product in violation of the law or any of Amazon’s 

policies” can have their selling privileges suspended or terminated and 

their inventory in Amazon fulfillment centers can be destroyed or 

returned. Id.  

2. Sellers are responsible for lawfully importing their products.

Sellers choose how to fulfill orders of their products. They can fulfill 

the order themselves and send the product directly to the buyer. Liu Decl. 

¶ 7. Or they can use Amazon’s Fulfillment By Amazon (FBA) logistics 

services. Id. ¶¶ 7–8. The FBA services consist primarily of storing the 

seller’s inventory in an Amazon fulfillment center and arranging for the 

product to be delivered to the buyer. Id. ¶ 9. 

Amazon makes clear in the BSA that sellers are responsible for 

shipping and importing their products into the United States. Id. ¶ 12 & 

Ex. 1 at 32–33. Sellers who “ship Units [of their product] from outside the 

[United States] to fulfillment centers” must “list [themselves] as the 

importer/consignee and nominate a customs broker.” Id. Ex. 1 at 33.  

Amazon’s Program Policies in Seller Central reiterate that sellers 

must lawfully import products when using the FBA service. The 

Delivering imports to Amazon page states that an “Importer of Record 
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(IOR) is required for merchandise entering the United States” who “is 

responsible” for “ensuring the imported goods comply with local laws and 

regulations,” and that “Amazon, including our fulfillment centers, will

not act as an IOR for any shipment of FBA inventory.” Liu Decl. Ex. 5 at 

1 (emph. in original). The importer of record is responsible for certifying 

the correctness of entry documentation presented to Customs; paying for 

all duties, tariffs, taxes, and fees; and maintaining records pertaining 

thereto. See id. Ex. 5; 19 U.S.C. §§ 58c, 1484, 1485, 1487, 1508(a); 19 

C.F.R. §§ 24.23, 141.61, 143.44, 163.2.  

The Important Information for International Sellers page states 

that sellers “are responsible for complying with all import and export 

obligations and for payment of all duties and customs fees.” Id. Ex. 6 at 

1. And the Importing and Exporting Inventory page tells sellers that they 

“may not import prohibited or restricted products without all required 

permits and authorizations. For example, the import of certain 

agricultural, food products, alcohol, plants and seeds, fish and wildlife 

products, or medication into certain countries may be prohibited or 

restricted.” Id. Ex. 7 at 1–2. 

3. Customs and APHIS seized packages shipped to the United States

by third party sellers.

Between March 24 and March 31, 2015, U.S. Customs and Border 

Protection (CBP) and APHIS agents at an International Mail Facility in 

San Francisco seized 13 packages containing restricted animal food 
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products that lacked required importation certificates. Compl. ¶¶ 2.1–

2.8; Declaration of Patrick Rieder (“Rieder Decl.”) Exs. 1, 3–6; Order at 7. 

The sender addressed the packages to an Amazon fulfillment center in 

Moreno Valley, California. Rieder Decl. Ex. 3. On the international 

shipping label, the sender had mis-declared the contents as “rubber 

tube,” “personal belongings,” and other generic items. Id. Exs. 7, 8; Order 

at 7. 

APHIS agents contacted Amazon and sought information about the 

sender. Based on the information provided by APHIS, Amazon identified 

the sender as third-party seller Yummy House Hong Kong and provided 

details about its seller account. Rieder Decl. Exs. 11–12; Liu Decl. ¶ 30; 

Order at 7–8. Amazon also promptly suspended Yummy House’s seller 

account. Liu Decl. ¶ 37.  

On July 9, 2015, CBP and APHIS agents at a Los Angeles 

International Mail Facility seized three packages containing restricted 

poultry products unaccompanied by required importation certificates. 

Compl. ¶ 2.17; Rieder Decl. Exs. 2, 16; Order at 10–11. The packages 

were addressed to a different Amazon fulfillment center in Moreno 

Valley. Rieder Decl. Exs. 15–16. APHIS agents contacted Amazon 

seeking information about the sender responsible for the shipment, 

which Amazon identified as a third-party seller known as Deng Dan 

(a/k/a DD222). Id. Ex. 18. Amazon immediately suspended its seller 

account. Liu Decl. ¶ 38. 
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On March 18, 2016, CBP and APHIS agents at an International 

Mail Facility in San Francisco seized three boxes containing food 

products derived from Kaffir lime leaves. Compl. ¶ 2.18; Rieder Decl. 

Ex. 19; Order at 11. These boxes were addressed to an Amazon 

fulfillment center in Joliet, Illinois. Rieder Decl. Ex. 19. APHIS agents 

contacted Amazon about the seized shipments, and Amazon identified 

the sender as third-party seller X-Sampa Co. Id. Ex. 21; Liu Decl. ¶ 30. 

Amazon promptly suspended its seller account. Liu Decl. ¶ 39. 

All of these products “were shipped into the United States by 

foreign third-party sellers who used Amazon’s online store and FBA 

services.” Order at 6. The sellers handled all aspects of shipping the 

products into the United States. Liu Decl. ¶¶ 10–11, 35–36. Amazon did 

not ship them or transport them into the United States, and was not the 

importer of record. It was the addressee.   

4. Amazon cooperated in APHIS’s investigation.

After APHIS contacted Amazon about the March 2015 shipments, 

Amazon provided information about other Yummy House products 

located in Amazon fulfillment centers. Liu Decl. ¶ 40; Rieder Decl. 

Exs. 11–12; Order at 8. At APHIS’s verbal request, Amazon placed a 30-

day hold on all Yummy House items in its fulfillment centers. Second 

Declaration of Vincent Liu (“Second Liu Decl.”) ¶¶ 3–5; Order at 8. After 

the hold expired without further action by APHIS, Amazon released the 
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products to the seller at the seller’s request. Second Liu Decl. ¶ 5. More 

than a week later, APHIS belatedly issued formal written hold 

notifications directing Amazon not to move Yummy House products in its 

possession. Id. ¶¶ 5–6; Compl. ¶ 2.9. 

The information that Amazon provided led APHIS to other Yummy 

House products. Rieder Decl. Ex. 13; Order at 9. APHIS seized and 

destroyed a Yummy House package located in an Amazon fulfillment 

center in Tennessee. Rieder Decl. Ex. 11 at 5. Other products had been 

released by Amazon at Yummy House’s direction and sent to an 

independent warehouse in Passaic, New Jersey, which is not owned by or 

affiliated with Amazon. Liu Decl. ¶ 41; Second Liu Decl. ¶ 5. APHIS 

agents who inspected the Passaic warehouse found one package released 

from Amazon’s fulfillment center and discovered other restricted 

products apparently belonging to Yummy House. Rieder Decl. Ex. 13. 

The record does not indicate whether the products seized in Passaic 

originated in the United States or were imported, or what paperwork 

accompanied them. Rieder Decl. ¶¶ 2–3, Ex. 13 at 1 (“No documentation 

for any of the products could be obtained.”).  

Amazon also identified other products belonging to X-Sampa, which 

are referenced in the Complaint at ¶¶ 2.19–2.23, and held them for 

APHIS to retrieve and destroy. Liu Decl. ¶ 39; Rieder Decl. Ex. 21; Order 

at 12. Unlike the X-Sampa products identified in the Complaint at ¶ 2.18, 

APHIS has no documentation regarding the importation of these 
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additional X-Sampa products that Amazon located and provided to 

APHIS. See Rieder Decl. Ex. 21.  

The dates and locations where the products were discovered are 

summarized in a table at Addendum B. 

5. The Department imposed the maximum civil penalty under the

AHPA and PPA.

APHIS filed an administrative complaint alleging that Amazon 

“imports” products under the AHPA and PPA because it “offers a service 

called Fulfillment by Amazon (FBA) whereby products are posted on 

Amazon.com for sale by third-party sellers, stored in Amazon’s 

fulfillment centers (FC), and Amazon packs, ships, and/or provides 

logistics services for these products.” Compl. ¶ 1.3. It alleged 22 instances 

in which Amazon improperly “imported and moved” non-compliant 

products between March 24, 2015, and May 31, 2016. Id. ¶¶ 2.1–2.8, 

2.10–2.23. Amazon and APHIS each moved for summary judgment.   

The ALJ granted summary judgment to APHIS. The Department’s 

Chief Administrative Law Judge granted summary judgment to APHIS. 

ALJ Order. The Chief ALJ determined that “Amazon imported the 

products at issue” based on its “involvement in the importation of the 

restricted products.” ALJ Order at 23. The supposed “involvement” was 

that Amazon “was aware of these products and expected them to be 

delivered to Amazon fulfillment centers in the United States, where they 

were to be stored until purchased by customers on [A]mazon.com. Once 
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purchased, [Amazon] was contractually obligated to transport the 

products to the buyers, via interstate commerce if necessary.” ALJ Order 

at 23. The ALJ also wrote that Amazon “fail[ed] to place stop guards that 

would prevent violations of the” AHPA and PPA, contrary to unspecified 

“statutory duties.” ALJ Order at 35.  

The Chief ALJ based the ruling on the “aid, abet, cause, or induce” 

language in the AHPA’s and PPA’s definition of “import.” ALJ Order at 

24, 34. He determined that the other definitions of “import” did not apply 

because “Amazon did not ‘offer’ or ‘receive’ to ‘carry, enter, import, mail, 

ship, or transport imported goods’”; Amazon did not “receive[] the 

shipment[s] outside the U.S. territorial limits”; and Amazon did not 

“allow” the importation because it “was not in a position of authority to 

‘allow’ importation of the restricted products.” ALJ Order at 23–24. 

APHIS did not cross-appeal this ruling to the Judicial Officer. As a result, 

APHIS’s claims that Amazon fell within other provisions of the statutes’ 

definitions of “import” are no longer part of this case. The Chief ALJ also 

rejected APHIS’s claim that Amazon violated a quarantine hold by 

releasing Yummy House’s products, and APHIS did not cross-appeal that 

ruling either. ALJ Order at 15 n.42, 35–37.  

Finally, the Chief ALJ determined that “no hearing is needed to 

determine penalties” and imposed the maximum $1,000,000 combined 

civil penalty allowed under the AHPA and PPA. ALJ Order at 38–41; see 

also 7 U.S.C. §§ 7734(b)(2), 8313(b)(2). He reasoned that the 
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repercussions of a disease outbreak—which did not occur here—are 

“great” and there “is no question that such penalty will not affect 

Amazon’s ability to continue to do lawful business or that Amazon will be 

able to pay.” ALJ Order at 40–41. 

The Judicial Officer affirmed. The Department’s Judicial Officer 

affirmed the Chief ALJ’s ruling in the Order under review by this Court. 

Because APHIS did not cross-appeal the aspects of the ruling that were 

adverse to it, the “primary issue on appeal” to the Judicial Officer was 

the “interpretation of the ‘aid, abet, cause, or induce’ language in the 

AHPA and PPA.” Order at 16.  

The Judicial Officer determined that the “benefits provided, or 

intended to be provided, by Amazon to the third-party sellers did ‘aid, 

abet, cause or induce’ the restricted products to be moved into the United 

States.” Id. at 28. These “benefits” were lawful business services 

consisting of storing third-party sellers’ products (after the sellers 

imported them), arranging domestic shipment of those products, 

facilitating payment, providing customer support, and giving sellers 

access to customers through Amazon’s website and the “opportunity for 

business growth and exposure.” Id. at 27–28. Providing lawful services 

was sufficient, in the Judicial Officer’s view, because “knowledge [of 

wrongdoing] and substantial assistance are not required to find a 

violation of the AHPA or PPA.” Id. at 29.  
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The Judicial Officer dismissed precedents from the Supreme Court, 

this Court, and other courts holding that the same basic secondary 

liability words in criminal law, tort law, and regulatory law require 

precisely these elements, even when no scienter word like “knowingly” 

accompanies them. Id. at 16–20, 28; see also, e.g., Rosemond v. United 

States, 572 U.S. 65, 76 (2014) (recognizing “aiding and abetting law’s 

intent requirement” in criminal law even though the secondary liability 

statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2(a), does not specify a mens rea requirement); 

Halberstam v. Welch, 705 F.2d 472, 477 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (aiding and 

abetting requires awareness of the defendant’s “role as part of an overall 

illegal or tortious activity” and the defendant “must knowingly and 

substantially assist the principal violation”). Those precedents include a 

Tenth Circuit decision holding that “aided, induced, or caused to be 

moved” in another Department regulation “requires an element of 

culpability together with direct involvement in the movement of cattle.” 

Culbertson v. USDA, 69 F.3d 465, 467–68 (10th Cir. 1995). The Judicial 

Officer did not identify any cases applying these secondary liability words 

without these elements.  

The Judicial Officer instead relied on “other indications in the text 

and structure of the statutes,” principally the use of “knowingly” in the 

criminal penalties provision and its absence in the civil penalties 

provision, and Congress’s use of “knowingly” in some statutes that 

employ secondary liability terms. Order at 17, 21–24. He inferred that 
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when “Congress wants to assign a mental state to any of the terms ‘aid,’ 

‘abet,’ ‘induce,’ or ‘cause,’ it knows how to do so.” Id. at 24. He did not 

address the Supreme Court’s Rosemond case, which interprets the 

secondary liability language in the federal criminal code to require intent 

despite the absence of “knowingly.” And he went beyond the statutes’ 

“text and structure” by hypothesizing about their “manifest purpose” and 

invoking the Department’s “longstanding policy” to broadly interpret 

“remedial legislation.” Order at 24–25. He resisted any “restrictive 

interpretation” that “would make it more difficult for the USDA to 

prevent the introduction of dangerous animal and plant products into the 

United States ….” Id. at 25.   

After reading the traditional elements of secondary liability out of 

the statutes, the Judicial Officer determined in the alternative that he 

“would reach the same result” and find Amazon liable even if the 

“statutory terms did require knowledge and substantial assistance.” Id. 

at 29. He concluded that the “many benefits … that third-party sellers 

receive” from Amazon’s services “did substantially assist.” Id. And he 

concluded that Amazon had “knowledge” because it was aware of the 

types of products offered by third-party sellers, had “pre-existing 

business relationships” with them, and was aware of relevant federal 

regulations. Id. at 29–30. He cited no evidence that Amazon knew of the 

third-party sellers’ unlawful conduct, such as their failure to obtain 

proper certificates, or that Amazon intended to assist in any wrongdoing.   
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Finally, the Judicial Officer affirmed the Chief ALJ’s penalty order. 

Id. at 36. He reasoned that the “nature of Amazon’s violations … is 

serious” because the statutes are “designed to prevent the dangers from 

the spread of animal diseases and plant pests ….” Id. at 33. He also cited 

the “numerous” violations, Amazon’s “business relationship[s]” with the 

sellers, and Amazon’s “knowledge of federal regulations that restrict 

animal and plant products.” Order at 33–36.   

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Department misconstrued “aid, abet, cause, or induce” as not 

requiring “knowledge and substantial assistance” in third parties’ 

unlawful importation. Order at 29. It replaced these required elements 

of secondary liability with a nebulous “benefits provided” concept that 

would sweep in many other innocent actors who provide legitimate 

services.     

1. The Department’s construction has no basis in the text of the 

AHPA or PPA. Neither statute defines “import” in terms of providing 

benefits that third parties desire to use. The “aid, abet, cause, or induce” 

words that Congress chose have well-established meanings that include 

“knowledge and substantial assistance” elements. The Department’s 

construction cannot be squared with (1) precedent interpreting the same 

basic language in another Department regulation, (2) ample precedent 

from the Supreme Court, this Court, and many other courts interpreting 
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these secondary liability concepts, and (3) precedent rejecting secondary 

liability for providing lawful products or services—which the Department 

termed “benefits.” The novelty of the Department’s construction is 

evident in the complete lack of precedent it mustered in support. 

2. The Department also erred in “reach[ing] the same result” even 

“if the statutory terms did require knowledge and substantial 

assistance.” Order at 29. APHIS offered no evidence of either. Nothing in 

the record supports a finding that Amazon knew the third parties were 

importing products without the required documentation or substantially 

assisted them in doing so. The Department incorrectly held that the 

secondary liability requirements were satisfied simply because Amazon 

knew that third-party sellers were selling products in the United States 

and provided lawful business services to sellers.  

3. The Department compounded these errors by misapplying the 

mandatory and discretionary factors in imposing the maximum civil 

penalty. The Department erred by presuming that every violation of the 

AHPA and PPA has high severity, rather than assessing all the 

circumstances relevant to this case, and by improperly relying on 

Amazon’s size and ability to pay as an aggravating factor instead of a 

neutral one.  
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the APA, this Court reviews de novo questions of law in 

agency appeals, including “interpret[ation] … [of] statutory provisions.” 

See 5 U.S.C. § 706; Citizens Against Rails-to-Trails v. Surface Transp. 

Bd., 267 F.3d 1144, 1151 (D.C. Cir. 2001). It also reviews de novo the 

Department’s alternative finding of knowledge and substantial 

assistance because the Department applied undisputed facts to the law 

on summary judgment. See Trudel v. SunTrust Bank, 924 F.3d 1281, 

1285 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (court reviews “a summary judgment de novo”). The 

penalty determination is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See Affum v. 

United States, 566 F.3d 1150, 1161 (D.C. Cir. 2009). 

STANDING

Amazon is directly impacted and aggrieved by the Department’s 

Order, which affirmed the imposition of a $1,000,000 civil penalty. Order 

at 37. Amazon has suffered concrete and particularized injuries that are 

ongoing, traceable to the Department’s actions, and likely to be redressed 

by a favorable decision. See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–

61 (1992); Am. Petroleum Inst. v. U.S. EPA, 216 F.3d 50, 63 (D.C. Cir. 

2000). 
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ARGUMENT

I. The Department disregarded the elements of secondary liability.

The “aid, abet, cause, or induce” language that Congress included 

in the AHPA and PPA has a specific meaning that does not encompass 

providing “benefits” that are entirely lawful. Inherent in these words 

chosen by Congress are the “knowledge and substantial assistance” 

elements that the Department disregarded. Order at 29. Ample 

precedent confirms this point.      

A. The Department disregarded precedent involving the same

secondary liability concepts in its own regulation.

The Department’s position that “knowledge and substantial 

assistance are not required to find a violation of the AHPA or PPA,” Order 

at 29, contradicts precedent holding that nearly identical secondary 

liability language in one of the Department’s regulations “requires an 

element of culpability together with direct involvement” in the third 

party’s wrongdoing. Culbertson, 69 F.3d at 468.  

The Tenth Circuit’s decision in Culbertson involved the same basic 

secondary liability language at issue here. A Department regulation 

under the Contagious Cattle Disease Act defined “moved” as “shipped, 

transported, delivered, or received for movement, or otherwise aided, 

induced, or caused to be moved.” Id. at 467 (quoting 9 C.F.R. § 78.1; 

emph. added). Notably, that Act’s penalty structure parallels the AHPA’s 

and PPA’s in requiring that a defendant act “knowingly” for criminal 
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penalties but specifying no scienter for civil penalties. See 21 U.S.C. § 122 

(1994); Culbertson, 69 F.3d at 467 n.3 (citing the penalty provision).   

The Judicial Officer determined that the defendant, a “cattle 

broker” who “presented the cattle” and “negotiated a sale price,” “moved” 

cattle without a required certificate. Id. at 466–67 & n.2. The defendant 

did not know the cattle were infected with brucellosis. Id. at 468. He 

handed truckers health certificates but did not examine them and was 

“unaware that they were incomplete.” Id. at 466. He later chauffeured 

others to an inspection of additional cattle, some of which were shipped 

without testing for brucellosis. Id. at 466–67. There was no evidence, 

however, that the defendant knew of or sought to further any proscribed 

movement. Nevertheless, the Judicial Officer determined that the 

defendant’s “transportation of persons and documents as a courier, 

coupled with his presence at the time of shipment from the Major ranch, 

sufficed to establish a basis upon which liability could be imposed under 

the Regulations.” Id. at 468.  

The court found the Department’s “interpretation of ‘moved’” 

“insupportably broad” because “liability under the Regulations requires 

an element of culpability together with direct involvement in the 

movement of cattle.” Id. There was no evidence to satisfy these elements. 

The defendant did not aid, induce, or cause the unlawful movement of 

cattle because he did not “own or control the cattle or influence the 

decisions prerequisite to their interstate movement”; did not “possess the 
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authority to arrange delivery of the cattle” or “assist in loading the 

cattle”; and he “reasonably relied upon those who owned and controlled 

the cattle to comply with the Regulations.” Id.  

The court noted that these culpability and direct involvement 

elements are necessary to protect innocent actors from boundless 

secondary liability. Without them, the Department “conceivably could 

impose liability upon the sale barn owner, or a chauffeur who transports 

the parties to the negotiations, or a mail courier who delivers the health 

certificates or a ranch hand who is present during the loading of the 

infected cattle.” Id. These parties’ “involvement in the movement of 

cattle” is “too attenuated to support liability” because “culpability” and 

“direct involvement” are absent. See id. 

There is no way to reconcile the Department’s view that “knowledge 

and substantial assistance are not required” for secondary liability under 

the AHPA and PPA with Culbertson’s holding that “culpability and direct 

involvement” are required under the same basic language in a 

Department regulation. The Department did not even try. It simply 

dismissed Culbertson because the “facts in this proceeding are very 

different.” Order at 27. Factual differences in adjudications do not justify 

wildly different interpretations of the same basic language in statutes or 

regulations administered by the Department.      
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B. The Department disregarded other precedents recognizing

culpability requirements for secondary liability.

The “doctrines of secondary liability emerged from common law 

principles and are well established in the law.” Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer 

Studios Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd., 545 U.S. 913, 930 (2005) (citations 

omitted); see also Nat’l Org. for Women v. Operation Rescue, 37 F.3d 646, 

656 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“‘aiding’ and ‘abetting’ are terms of art”). “It is a 

settled principle of interpretation that, absent other indication, Congress 

intends to incorporate the well-settled meaning of the common-law terms 

it uses.” Sekhar v. United States, 570 U.S. 729, 732 (2013) (cleaned up). 

When “Congress borrows terms of art in which are accumulated the legal 

tradition and meaning of centuries of practice,” it “adopts the cluster of 

ideas that were attached to each borrowed word in the body of learning 

….” Id. at 733 (quoting Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 263 

(1952); cleaned up). 

The “knowledge and substantial assistance” elements that the 

Department deemed “not required,” Order at 29, are firmly within the 

“cluster of ideas” underlying the common law terms “aid, abet, cause, or 

induce.” See Sekhar, 570 U.S. at 733. 

Aiding and abetting. Secondary liability has long been part of 

criminal law. The Supreme Court held that “aid and abet” under federal 

criminal law incorporates these terms’ longstanding common law 

meanings and requires culpable assistance. Rosemond, 572 U.S. at 70. 
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And this Court long ago recognized that, even in the civil context, 

“[a]iding-abetting focuses on whether a defendant knowingly gave 

‘substantial assistance’ ….” Halberstam, 705 F.2d at 478.  

The Supreme Court addressed the elements of secondary liability 

in Rosemond. The issue was what intent is required to convict for aiding 

and abetting the offense of using a gun in connection with a drug 

trafficking crime. 572 U.S. at 68. The answer turned on the secondary 

liability language in 18 U.S.C. § 2(a), which states that “[w]hoever 

commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, 

commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a 

principal.”  

The Court recognized that this secondary liability language 

“derives from (though simplifies) common-law standards for accomplice 

liability.” 572 U.S. at 70 (citations omitted). “And in so doing, § 2 reflects 

a centuries-old view of culpability: that a person may be responsible for 

a crime he has not personally carried out if he helps another to complete 

its commission.” Id. (citation omitted). But not any “help” will do. 

Culpable assistance is required. “As at common law, a person is liable 

under § 2 for aiding and abetting a crime if (and only if) he (1) takes an 

affirmative act in furtherance of that offense, (2) with the intent of 

facilitating the offense’s commission.” Id. at 71. The Court recognized 

“aiding and abetting law’s intent requirement” despite the absence of a 

USCA Case #22-1052      Document #1954416            Filed: 07/11/2022      Page 38 of 123



 

-24- 
 

scienter word like “intentionally” or “knowingly” preceding the statute’s 

secondary liability terms. Id. at 76. 

The Court wrote that the “canonical formulation of [the] needed 

state of mind … is Judge Learned Hand’s” from United States v. Peoni. 

Id. at 76–77. In Peoni, Judge Hand noted that the “substance of that 

formula” in the “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or procures” 

language “goes back a long way.” United States v. Peoni, 100 F.2d 401, 

402 (2d Cir. 1938). He surveyed centuries of legal doctrine and concluded 

that “these definitions have nothing whatever to do with the probability 

that the forbidden result would follow upon the accessory’s conduct”; 

rather, “they all demand that he in some sort associate himself with the 

venture, that he participate in it as in something that he wishes to bring 

about, that he seek by his action to make it succeed. All the words used—

even the most colorless, ‘abet’—carry an implication of purposive attitude 

towards it.” Id.; see also United States v. Raper, 676 F.2d 841, 849 (D.C. 

Cir. 1982) (describing Peoni as the “classic interpretation of the aiding 

and abetting rule of law”).  

As Judge Hand’s “canonical” formulation makes clear, the 

probability that one’s act would further a result accomplished by a third 

party is not sufficient. The focus is not on why the third-party wrongdoer 

did what it did, but on the alleged aider’s knowledge of the wrongdoing 

and intent to assist in it—hence “aiding and abetting law’s intent 

requirement.” Rosemond, 572 U.S. at 76; see also Raper, 676 F.2d at 849 
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(“What is required on the part of the aider is sufficient knowledge and 

participation to indicate that he knowingly and willfully participated in 

the offense in a manner that indicated he intended to make it succeed.”). 

“Culpability of some sort is necessary to justify punishment of a 

secondary actor and mere unknowing participation in another’s violation 

is an improper predicate to liability.” Monsen v. Consol. Dressed Beef Co., 

579 F.2d 793, 799 (3d Cir. 1978) (citation omitted). 

Aiding and abetting has the same elements in the civil context as 

well, as this Court held nearly forty years ago in its seminal Halberstam 

decision. The plaintiff sued the romantic partner of a robber who 

murdered the plaintiff’s husband on theories of aiding and abetting and 

civil conspiracy. The defendant did not participate in the crimes but 

assisted with selling the loot and tracking the proceeds. 705 F.2d at 475. 

As the district court found, she “knew full well” her partner’s illegal 

activities. Id. at 474, 486–88. One of the “primary issues” was “what kind 

of activities of a secondary defendant … will establish vicarious liability 

for tortious conduct by the primary wrongdoer ….” Id. at 476. 

This Court “clarif[ied] basic elements of vicarious liability in tort” 

and “analyze[d] case law to see what evidence is sufficient to establish 

them.” Id. Drawing from the Restatement of Torts2 and other sources, the 

 
2 The relevant Restatement provision states: “For harm resulting to a 

third person from the tortious conduct of another, one is subject to 

liability if he … knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach of 
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Court wrote that “[a]iding-abetting includes the following elements: 

(1) the party whom the defendant aids must perform a wrongful act that 

causes an injury; (2) the defendant must be generally aware of his role as 

part of an overall illegal or tortious activity at the time that he provides 

the assistance; (3) the defendant must knowingly and substantially assist 

the principal violation.” Id. at 477; see also Invs. Rsch. Corp. v. SEC, 628 

F.2d 168, 178 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (adopting the same basic elements in the 

securities context). The Court noted that these elements are sometimes 

described with varying language—a point the Department incorrectly 

seized upon to suggest they are not well recognized, Order at 17–18—but 

“of course these elements can be merged or articulated somewhat 

differently without affecting their basic thrust.” 705 F.2d at 478 n.8.3  

Halberstam has reached nearly the same canonical status as Peoni. 

Congress endorsed the decision “as the leading case regarding Federal 

civil aiding and abetting … liability.” Justice Against Sponsors of 

Terrorism Act (JASTA), Pub. L. No. 114-222, § 2(a)(5), 130 Stat. 852, 852 

 

duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so 

to conduct himself.” Restatement (Second) of Torts § 876(b) (Am. L. Inst. 

1979). 

3 In Raper, for example, this Court included an intent element: “The 

elements of aiding or abetting an offense are (1) the specific intent to 

facilitate the commission of a crime by another; (2) guilty knowledge on 

the part of the accused; (3) that an offense was being committed by 

someone; and (4) that the accused assisted or participated in the 

commission of the offense.” 676 F.2d at 849 (cleaned up).  
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(2016). And the Supreme Court described it as “a comprehensive opinion 

on the subject” of aiding and abetting. Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First 

Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 181 (1994). 

Halberstam deemed case law from other jurisdictions “illustrative 

of some key issues” in aiding and abetting liability. 705 F.2d at 479. That 

case law uniformly requires some form of knowledge of and substantial 

assistance to the third party’s wrongdoing. See, e.g., Pittman ex rel. 

Pittman v. Grayson, 149 F.3d 111, 123 (2d Cir. 1998) (“aiding and 

abetting requires that the defendant have given substantial assistance 

or encouragement to the primary wrongdoer” and “the defendant must 

know the wrongful nature of the primary actor’s conduct” (cleaned up)); 

Monsen, 579 F.2d at 799 (“Knowledge of the underlying violation is a 

critical element in proof of aiding-abetting liability ….”); Woodward v. 

Metro Bank of Dallas, 522 F.2d 84, 95 (5th Cir. 1975) (requiring a 

“general awareness that one’s role was part of an overall activity that is 

improper,” and reasoning that simply “conduct[ing] what appears to be a 

transaction in the ordinary course of [one’s] business” is insufficient).  

Causing and inducing. Aiding and abetting are distinct from 

causing and inducing even though they have culpability elements in 

common. Aiding and abetting make an accessory liable as a principal 

based on providing culpable assistance to the wrongdoer. See Pereira v. 

United States, 347 U.S. 1, 11 (1954) (“[a]iding, abetting, and counseling” 

make “the defendant a principal when he consciously shares in a criminal 
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act”). Causing and inducing, on the other hand, impose liability for 

getting a third party to engage in a wrongful act on one’s behalf.  

“The courts have uniformly construed the word ‘cause’ ... to mean a 

principal acting through an agent or one who procures or brings about 

the commission of a crime.” United States v. Inciso, 292 F.2d 374, 378 

(7th Cir. 1961); United States v. Tobon-Builes, 706 F.2d 1092, 1099 (11th 

Cir. 1983) (“causing” liability encompasses one who causes an innocent 

intermediary to commit a crime). Relatedly, “inducing” means 

intentionally encouraging another to commit an unlawful act. See 

Grokster, 545 U.S. at 937. 

Though they reach different types of conduct, liability for causing 

or inducing wrongdoing has the same basic culpability and substantial 

assistance elements as aiding and abetting. As Judge Hand explained in 

the “canonical formulation” of secondary liability, “[a]ll the words used” 

in the secondary liability statute—which are “aids, abets, counsels, 

commands, induces, or procures”—“carry an implication of purposive 

attitude towards” the wrongful “venture.” Peoni, 100 F.2d at 402. 

Although section 2(a) of that statute uses the term “procures” rather than 

“causes,” the courts recognize that liability for “causing” requires that “a 

criminal purpose or intent … accompany the causal nexus before 

conviction for a crime can be had.” King v. United States, 364 F.2d 235, 

240 (5th Cir. 1966); see also United States v. Montoy, 664 F. App’x 632, 

634 (9th Cir. 2016) (unpublished) (holding that the defendant “induced” 
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another to sexually exploit a minor where he “was fully aware of the 

sexual exploitation … and intended for it to occur”); Nat’l Org. for Women, 

37 F.3d at 656 (though the term “inducing,” when “[t]aken in isolation” 

may “seem capable of such broad readings,” like “‘aiding’ and ‘abetting’” 

it “comes with [its] own impressive legal pedigree”).4   

* * * 

The Department did not cite any cases that apply secondary 

liability without culpability elements or that support its “benefits 

provided” test. The cases it cited stand mostly for the uncontested 

propositions that (i) some acts described in other parts of the statutes can 

support a violation without any malintent (e.g., unwittingly carrying a 

restricted item over the border), or (ii) civil penalties can be imposed 

without scienter (provided the underlying violation has no scienter 

requirement). Order at 22–23, 26. Although the precedents that the 

Department cast aside use varying formulations—“knowledge” instead of 

“culpability” or “substantial assistance” instead of “direct involvement”—

 
4 The Chief ALJ wrote that “[b]ut for the services that Amazon provides, 

the subject violations of the AHPA and PPA could not have occurred.” 

ALJ Order at 30. The Judicial Officer did not expressly adopt this but-for 

causation analysis, and for good reason. But-for causation “is not … a 

useful definition of cause.” Chi. Laws. Comm. for Civil Rights v. 

Craigslist, Inc., 519 F.3d 666, 671 (7th Cir. 2008). “One might as well say 

that people who save money ‘cause’ bank robbery, because if there were 

no banks there could be no bank robberies.” Id.  
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they make one thing clear: secondary liability requires knowledge of and 

substantial assistance to the third party’s wrongdoing.   

C. The Department’s broad construction would ensnare many

other innocent actors.

The Department’s “benefits provided” test, Order at 28, improperly 

shifted the focus from culpable assistance by the defendant to third 

parties’ subjective motivations for importing products. That shift leads to 

unbounded secondary liability for wrongdoing committed by third 

parties. Any legitimate product or service that somebody desires to use 

can be construed as a “benefit provided.” And any wrongdoing by a third 

party motivated in some way by obtaining that benefit would expose 

innocent providers of those products or services to liability.   

The long-standing culpability elements for secondary liability are 

necessary guardrails. This Court has “acknowledged that an ‘awareness 

of wrong-doing requirement’ for an aider-abettor is designed to avoid 

subjecting innocent, incidental participants to harsh penalties or 

damages.” Halberstam, 705 F.2d at 485 n.14 (citations omitted); see also 

Invs. Rsch. Corp., 628 F.2d at 177 (“The awareness of wrong-doing 

requirement for aiding and abetting liability is designed to insure that 

innocent, incidental participants in transactions later found to be illegal 

are not subjected to harsh, civil, criminal, or administrative penalties.”); 

Woodward, 522 F.2d at 97 (without requirements that the “alleged aider-

abettor” be “generally aware of [its] role in improper activity” and 
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“knowingly render substantial assistance,” the “securities laws would 

become an amorphous snare for guilty and innocent alike”); Monsen, 579 

F.2d at 799 (“Knowledge of the underlying violation is a critical element 

in proof of aiding-abetting liability, for without this requirement 

financial institutions, brokerage houses, and other such organizations 

would be virtual insurers of their customers against security law 

violations.”); K & S P’ship v. Cont’l Bank, N.A., 952 F.2d 971, 977 (8th 

Cir. 1991) (“If an illegal scheme exists and a bank’s loan assists in that 

scheme, the bank’s knowledge of the scheme is the crucial element that 

prevents it from suffering automatic liability for the conduct of insiders 

to whom it loaned the money.” (citation omitted)). 

Without these guardrails, many innocent actors offering legitimate 

services could be construed as “aiding and abetting” wrongdoing or 

otherwise “causing” or “inducing” it. For instance, customs brokers, 

international logistics providers, and domestic transportation providers 

all provide services that could be called “benefits” under the 

Department’s broad theory of secondary liability. Linking secondary 

liability to such an expansive concept could even ensnare consumers, 

whose purchase of foreign products could be construed as a “benefit” 

desired by foreign entities.    

As this Court has pointed out, “in most cases, an alleged aider and 

abettor will merely be engaging in customary business activities, such as 

loaning money, managing a corporation, preparing financial statements, 

USCA Case #22-1052      Document #1954416            Filed: 07/11/2022      Page 46 of 123



 

-32- 
 

distributing press releases, completing brokerage transactions, or giving 

legal advice.” Invs. Rsch. Corp., 628 F.2d at 178 n.61 (cleaned up). These 

“activities could constitute substantial assistance to the principal 

wrongdoer, yet any can be performed in complete good faith by an actor 

totally unaware that anything improper is occurring.” Ibid. And “[w]here 

the activities of the alleged aider and abettor are in this respect innocent, 

it would be unjust to utilize secondary liability principles to impose 

punishment or administrative sanctions ….” Ibid. 

The Supreme Court has emphasized that providing a lawful 

product or service cannot support secondary liability for third parties’ 

misuse of those products or services. See Grokster, 545 U.S. at 932–33. 

Grokster involved secondary liability under copyright law for providing 

“a product capable of both lawful and unlawful use.” Id. at 918. The Court 

acknowledged the “law’s reluctance to find liability when a defendant 

merely sells a commercial product suitable for some lawful use.” Id. at 

936 (collecting cases). It emphasized the need to shield legitimate 

business transactions from overbroad secondary liability. It held that 

“one who distributes a device with the object of promoting its use to 

infringe copyright, as shown by clear expression or other affirmative 

steps taken to foster infringement, is liable for the resulting acts of 

infringement by third parties.” Id. at 936–37. By contrast, “mere 

knowledge of infringing potential or of actual infringing uses would not 

be enough here to subject a distributor to liability. Nor would ordinary 
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acts incident to product distribution, such as offering customers technical 

support or product updates, support liability in themselves.” Id. at 937. 

The “inducement rule” thus “does nothing to compromise legitimate 

commerce or discourage innovation having a lawful promise.” Id. 

The Department’s “benefits provided” test, in addition to having no 

statutory basis, leads straight into the morass of unbridled liability that 

the knowledge and substantial assistance elements exist to prevent.   

D. The Department provided no sound reasons for its

unprecedented construction of the statutes.

The Department asserted that “other indications in the text and 

structure of the statutes compel rejection of” knowledge and substantial 

assistance requirements. Order at 17. None of them supports its 

unprecedented and incorrect view of secondary liability under the AHPA 

and PPA.  

1. Use of “knowingly” in other statutes. The Department asserted 

that a mens rea requirement for secondary liability is “inconsistent with 

the structure of the AHPA and PPA,” which has a “knowingly” 

requirement for criminal penalties but not for civil penalties. Order at 

21–22 (citing 7 U.S.C. §§ 7734(b)(1), 8313(b)(1)). But the “knowingly” 

requirement for criminal penalties does not indicate that Congress 

intended to dispense with culpability requirements for civil “aiding, 

abetting, causing, or inducing” liability.  
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The penalty provisions specify the mens rea required for a civil or 

criminal penalty; they do not specify the elements of an underlying 

violation. Some underlying violations can be established without any 

mens rea, such as unwittingly “carry[ing]” a restricted product across the 

border. 7 U.S.C. § 8302(12)(A). The “knowingly” distinction in the 

penalties provisions simply establishes that even a violation that has no 

mens rea requirement can be subject to civil penalties. It does not 

establish the mens rea requirement for the underlying violation. It 

certainly does not imply that no mens rea is required for any violation. 

The words that describe each violation—not the words in the separate 

penalty provisions—have to be assessed to discern the violation’s 

elements.    

The Judicial Officer similarly reasoned that Congress’s use of 

“knowingly” in other statutory secondary liability provisions implies no 

mens rea requirement when the term is absent. He wrote that when 

“Congress wants to assign a mental state to any of the terms ‘aid,’ ‘abet,’ 

induce,’ or ‘cause,’ it knows how to do so,” and it chose “silence when it 

drafted the AHPA and PPA.” Order at 24.  

The Supreme Court’s Rosemond decision conclusively answers this 

argument. If the Department’s position were correct, then the absence of 

a scienter word in 18 U.S.C. § 2(a) should mean that no such requirement 

exists under that provision. But the Court held that the words “aid” and 

“abet” in the statute—though unmodified by any intent requirement—
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“reflect[] a centuries-old view of culpability” that requires, among other 

things, “the intent of facilitating the offense’s commission.” Rosemond, 

572 U.S. at 70–71 (citations omitted). “[A]iding and abetting law’s intent 

requirement” exists despite the absence of a scienter word in section 2(a). 

Id. at 76; see also Culbertson, 69 F.3d at 467–68 (requiring “an element 

of culpability” despite no scienter language in regulation’s secondary 

liability language).  

The Department has not identified “anything pointing another 

way” that justifies departing from the rule that, “where Congress uses a 

common-law term in a statute, we assume the term comes with a common 

law meaning.” Microsoft Corp. v. i4i Ltd. P’ship, 564 U.S. 91, 101 (2011) 

(cleaned up). 

2. Statutory purpose. The “manifest purpose of the AHPA and PPA,” 

Order at 24, cannot justify stripping the long-standing meaning from the 

words Congress chose. The Judicial Officer reasoned that a “knowledge 

and substantial assistance requirement works against the respective 

Congressional purpose provided in the text of the statutes by allowing 

parties with a role in importing prohibited items into the United States 

to avoid responsibility to comply.” Order at 24–25. Such a requirement 

“would make it more difficult for the USDA to prevent the introduction 

of dangerous animal and plant products into the United States and 

increases the risk of spreading associated diseases and pests.” Order at 

25.  
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Nothing in the statutes’ text permits the Department to predicate 

liability on vague statutory purposes or on lightening its enforcement 

burden. Courts “are not ‘free to pave over bumpy statutory texts in the 

name of more expeditiously advancing a policy goal.’” Sw. Airlines Co. v. 

Saxon, 142 S. Ct. 1783, 1792 (2022) (quoting New Prime Inc. v. Oliveira, 

139 S. Ct. 532, 543 (2019)). There simply is “no warrant to elevate vague 

invocations of statutory purpose over the words Congress chose.” Id. at 

1792–93.  

The Supreme Court’s Central Bank decision further exposes the 

Department’s error in resorting to “manifest purpose.” The Court held 

that section 10(b) of the Security Exchange Act of 1934 did not provide 

for civil aiding and abetting liability. Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 177–78, 

191. It reasoned that “the text of the statute controls our decision” on the 

“scope of conduct prohibited by § 10(b)” and “refused to allow 10b–5 

challenges to conduct not prohibited by the text of the statute.” Id. at 173. 

It rejected the sort of policy-based interpretation the Department 

engaged in here. “The issue … is not whether imposing private civil 

liability on aiders and abettors is good policy but whether aiding and 

abetting is covered by the statute.” Id. at 177. 

The Valkering decision also does not support the Department’s 

broad interpretation. Order at 25–27 & n.107; Valkering, U.S.A., Inc. v. 

USDA, 48 F.3d 305 (8th Cir. 1995). That decision did not involve the 

statutory terms at issue here. It interpreted the meaning of “allowed to 
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be moved,” 48 F.3d at 308, which is a basis for liability that the 

Department expressly rejected here. ALJ Order at 24 (ruling that 

Amazon “was not in a position of authority to ‘allow’ importation of the 

restricted products,” and that APHIS’s “interpretation and application of 

the term ‘allow’ [was] overbroad and out of context with respect to the 

statutory definition”). 

3. Remedial legislation. The “USDA’s longstanding policy 

interpreting the statutory terms to enforce similar remedial legislation,” 

Order at 25, similarly cannot override Congress’s intent. The “proposition 

that remedial statutes should be interpreted in a liberal manner” is not 

“a substitute for a conclusion grounded in the statute’s text and 

structure.” CTS Corp. v. Waldburger, 573 U.S. 1, 12 (2014); see also 

Symons v. Chrysler Corp. Loan Guarantee Bd., 670 F.2d 238, 241 (D.C. 

Cir. 1981). Indeed, the so-called remedial canon “is not favored” and is 

“inapplicable where, as here, the language of the relevant statute is not 

ambiguous.” Sykes v. Dudas, 573 F. Supp. 2d 191, 203 (D.D.C. 2008) 

(citation omitted); see also United States v. Cano-Flores, 796 F.3d 83, 93 

(D.C. Cir. 2015). Administrative agencies “cannot rewrite a statute just 

to serve a perceived statutory ‘spirit’.” Landstar Express Am., Inc. v. Fed. 

Mar. Comm’n, 569 F.3d 493, 500 (D.C. Cir. 2009).  

4. Variations in phrasing the elements of secondary liability. The 

Judicial Officer wrote that “Courts have not uniformly accepted or 

applied the elements of aiding and abetting,” Order at 17, but identified 
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no cases applying such liability without those elements. The Central 

Bank case that he cited for the purported lack of uniformity simply 

pointed out that not all states had adopted the Restatement of Torts 

provision. Nowhere did the Court suggest that, where civil aiding and 

abetting liability was adopted, it could be established without knowledge 

and substantial assistance.  

What the Judicial Officer described as “uncertainty in its 

application,” Order at 18, are minor differences in how courts phrase the 

elements of secondary liability. As this Court has recognized, “of course 

these elements can be merged or articulated somewhat differently 

without affecting their basic thrust.” Halberstam, 705 F.2d at 478 n.8; see 

also In re. Amaranth Nat’l Gas Commodities Litig., 730 F.3d 170, 182 (2d 

Cir. 2013) (noting that Third and Seventh Circuits’ three-part test for 

aiding and abetting does not “differ, in substance,” from the Peoni test 

applied by the Second Circuit; also concluding that the differing 

formulations are “different articulations for the same substantive legal 

standard”); Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Leahey Constr. Co., 219 F.3d 519, 

534 (6th Cir. 2000) (“We see no conflict between the position that an aider 

and abettor must have actual knowledge of the primary party’s 

wrongdoing and the statement that it is enough for the aider and abettor 

to have a general awareness of its role in the other’s tortious conduct for 

liability to attach.” (citation omitted)). All of these minor differences 

converge on one central point: secondary liability requires knowledge and 
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substantial assistance. The Department did not identify a single 

authority to the contrary.5  

E. The recent Federal Express decision does not support the

Department’s statutory construction.

One business day before this brief was filed, this Court issued its 

decision in Federal Express Corp. v. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, No. 1:19-cv-

01840, __ F.4th __, 2022 WL 2582364 (D.C. Cir. July 8, 2022), rejecting 

an ultra vires challenge to the Commerce Department’s strict-liability 

interpretation of a regulation under the Export Controls Act. That 

decision does not support the Department’s interpretation of the AHPA 

and PPA here because it involves a different statutory scheme in which 

Congress acquiesced in Commerce’s interpretation and the Court gave 

near-total deference to the agency.  

Federal Express involved an ultra vires challenge to a provision in 

the Export Administration Regulations which states that “[n]o person 

may cause or aid, abet, counsel, command, induce, procure, permit, or 

approve the doing of any act prohibited” by the Export Controls Act or 

 
5 In its recent Federal Express decision, which Amazon next addresses in 

section I.E, this Court noted that courts vary in their description of the 

knowledge requirement, ranging from “actual knowledge” to “general 

awareness of the primary tortfeasor’s wrongdoing” to “recklessness or 

constructive knowledge.” Federal Express Corp. v. U.S. Dept. of 

Commerce, No. 1:19-cv-01840, __ F.4th __, 2022 WL 2582364, *11 (D.C. 

Cir. July 8, 2022). The Court did not identify any cases that have no 

knowledge requirement whatsoever, which is the position the 

Department took here. 
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Export Administration Regulations. Fed. Exp., 2022 WL 2582364, at *2 

(quoting 15 C.F.R. § 764.2(b)). At one time this provision contained the 

word “knowingly,” but the Commerce Department removed it in the 

1980s. Id. at *3. The regulations remained largely unchanged and were 

“sustained by Congress’s temporary legislation” until 2018, when 

Congress enacted the 2018 Export Controls Act. Id. at *2. Congress 

“statutorily endorsed those preexisting regulations” in the 2018 Act. Id. 

The 2018 Act also imposes criminal penalties for willful violations and 

authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to impose civil penalties for 

violations. Id.  

The Commerce Department (acting through its Bureau of Industry 

and Security) charged FedEx with violating the Export Administration 

Regulations in 2011 and 2017 by transporting restricted items to certain 

countries without required licenses. Id. at *3–4. Despite agreeing to 

“waive[ ] all rights … to ‘seek judicial review’” in the agreements settling 

those charges, FedEx filed suit “challeng[ing] Commerce’s strict liability 

interpretation as ultra vires—that is, in clear excess of statutory 

authority ….” Id. at *4. The district court dismissed the suit because it 

could not “declare that the Department’s application of aiding and 

abetting liability constitutes a patent misreading of the statute,” as 

required for Federal Express’s ultra vires claim to succeed. Federal 

Express Corp. v. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, 486 F. Supp. 3d 69, 82 (D.D.C. 
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2020), aff’d sub nom. Fed. Express Corp. v. United States Dep’t of 

Commerce, No. 20-5337, 2022 WL 2582364 (D.C. Cir. July 8, 2022). 

This Court affirmed, but in doing so did not hold that the Commerce 

Department’s strict-liability interpretation was correct. Rather, the 

“dispute on appeal center[ed] on whether FedEx has demonstrated the 

type of extreme agency error needed to demonstrate that Commerce 

acted ultra vires.” 2022 WL 2582364, at *5. The Court found that the 

district court properly dismissed the case because FedEx “failed to 

demonstrate the type of blatant error necessary for an ultra vires 

challenge to succeed.” Id. at *8. The Court reasoned that the relevant 

regulatory provision tracked the statutory language, which is “the 

antithesis of a facially ultra vires regulation.” Id. And because the statute 

had no express mens rea requirement, Commerce’s interpretation “does 

not contravene any clear statutory command.” Id.  

The decision does not support the Department’s interpretation of 

the AHPA and PPA here. First, the Court applied a much higher 

standard that required “extreme agency error,” which is not the APA 

standard applicable here. Unlike APA review, “ultra vires claims are 

confined to ‘extreme’ agency error”—that is, “error that is patently a 

misconstruction of the Act, that disregards a specific and unambiguous 

statutory directive, or that violates some specific command of a statute 

will support relief.” Id. at *5 (cleaned up). “[G]arden variety errors of law 

or fact are not enough.” Id. at *6 (quoting Griffith v. Federal Labor 
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Relations Auth., 842 F.2d 487, 493 (D.C. Cir. 1988)). Ultra vires claims 

are a “Hail Mary pass” in which “challengers must show more than the 

type of routine error in ‘statutory interpretation or challenged findings of 

fact’ that would apply if Congress had allowed APA review.” Id. (citations 

omitted). The “statutory construction adopted by an agency will be held 

‘impermissible’” under ultra vires review “only if it is ‘utterly 

unreasonable’.” Id. at *8 (citations omitted). Under the APA, by contrast, 

questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706; see Citizens Against Rails-to-Trails, 267 F.3d at 1151. 

Second, the statute and regulation at issue in Federal Express are 

different from the AHPA and PPA. Most important is Congress’s 

acquiescence in Commerce’s longstanding omission of a mens rea 

requirement. “Commerce removed a requirement that the violator act 

‘knowingly’ three decades ago, and has long interpreted the regulation to 

impose strict liability. Yet Congress expressly carried the mens-rea-less 

regulation forward in the 2018 Export Controls Act.” 2022 WL 2582364, 

at *9. The AHPA and PPA reflect no such acquiescence, nor does the 

Department have a longstanding record of imposing strict liability for the 

acts of others.6 In addition, the Court relied on the fact that “neighboring” 

 
6 The Department decisions that the Judicial Officer cited as “impos[ing] 

liability on all parties involved in moving restricted items,” Order at 26 

& n.109, do not involve strict liability for acts of others. The two decisions 

in which parties were held secondarily liable relied upon their knowledge 
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sections of the 2018 Export Controls Act expressly impose a “knowledge” 

requirement for different violations. Id. at *8. Such “selective-use” of that 

term does not appear in the AHPA or PPA. Id. at *9. 

* * * 

The Supreme Court has cautioned that, “if judges could freely 

invest old statutory terms with new meanings, we would risk amending 

legislation outside the single, finely wrought and exhaustively 

considered, procedure the Constitution commands” and “would risk, too, 

upsetting reliance interests in the settled meaning of a statute.” New 

Prime, 139 S. Ct. at 539 (cleaned up). That is precisely what happened 

here. The Department imposed an unprecedented construction of “aid, 

abet, cause, or induce” that contravenes the long-settled understanding 

of these terms. And it offered no reason to treat the secondary liability 

 

of the wrongdoing and direct involvement in the violation. See In re: 

Steven Thompson & Darrell Moore, 50 Agric. Dec. 392, 393–94, 398 

(U.S.D.A. Mar. 6, 1991) (cattle dealer knowingly arranged for the 

transport of infected cattle); In re: John Casey, Monty Milhouse, & 

Timothy Puckett, 54 Agric. Dec. 91, 1995 WL 3694343, at *2–3, 8 

(U.S.D.A. June 21, 1995) (parties were directly involved in interstate 

movement of cattle they knew were infected). In the other decisions, the 

parties were held directly liable for their own actions. See In re: Dean 

Reed, d/b/a Dean Reed Cattle Co., Pete Donathan, & Speedway Trans., 

Inc., 52 Agric. Dec. 90 (U.S.D.A. Apr. 8, 1993); In re: Unique Nursery & 

Garden Ctr., Butternut Creek Sales, Inc., Valkering U.S.A., Inc., Heyl 

Truck Lines, Inc., & Lebarnold, Inc., 53 Agric. Dec. 377 (U.S.D.A. Feb. 8, 

1994); In re: Mitchell Stanley, d/b/a Stanley Bros., 65 Agric. Dec. 822, 

831 (U.S.D.A. Oct. 26, 2006). 
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language in the AHPA and PPA differently from how this language has 

been treated in other areas of law. Nor does this Court’s recent decision 

in Federal Express, which involved a different statutory scheme and 

standard of review, provide such justification. 

II. APHIS offered no evidence of knowledge or substantial assistance.

The Department determined in the alternative that “Amazon’s 

conduct squarely falls within the ‘aid, abet, cause, or induce’ definition of 

the term ‘move’” even “if the statutory terms did require knowledge and 

substantial assistance to find a violation of the AHPA and PPA.” Order 

at 29. This conclusion was error. APHIS offered no evidence that satisfies 

either element. 

No evidence of knowledge.APHIS offered no evidence that Amazon 

knew, or even could have known, that the third-party sellers were 

sending products to the United States without required compliance 

documentation. The Department’s finding to the contrary is predicated 

on knowledge that third parties were selling products in the United 

States, not that they were importing them wrongfully. The entirety of the 

Judicial Officer’s analysis of knowledge is reproduced below.  

[T]hird-party sellers who are accepted into the FBA program 

are required to register each product they want to offer and 

include in the FBA program which Amazon reserves the right 

to refuse. Amazon had a pre-existing business relationship 

with each of the three (3) third party-sellers. The information 

contained in Ex. 11 at 5 to the Rieder declaration also reflects 
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awareness of the type of products offered by the third-party 

sellers. Further, third-party products are stored in Amazon 

controlled warehouses and listed and promoted on the 

[A]mazon.com website. In addition, as demonstrated by the 

information contained on its Seller Central portal, Amazon 

was aware of federal regulations that restrict animal and 

plant products. These facts show that Amazon had 

knowledge. 

Order at 29–30.  

Knowledge that somebody sells products in the United States via 

Amazon is not knowledge of wrongful importation. The products can be 

lawfully imported with proper documentation, Order at 13, and there is 

no evidence that Amazon knew they were imported without that 

documentation before APHIS informed Amazon of the seizures. Amazon 

was not the importer of record or involved in importing the products, nor 

was it privy to the details of the importation such as the country of origin 

for each product. Liu Decl. ¶ 36; Second Liu Decl. ¶ 7. The third-party 

sellers who shipped the products for sale in the United States were 

responsible for arranging their lawful importation, and did in fact 

arrange for the products to be moved into the United States. Liu Decl. 

¶¶ 5–12, 19 & Ex. 1 at 32–33. Knowledge that the third parties’ acts were 

wrongful is required, and that is entirely absent here. See Pittman, 149 

F.3d at 123 (requiring knowledge of “the wrongful nature of the primary 

actor’s conduct” (citation omitted)); SEC v. Apuzzo, 689 F.3d 204, 212 (2d 
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Cir. 2012) (complainant must “prov[e] that the primary violation 

occurred and that the defendant had knowledge of it”).  

Far from showing knowledge of wrongdoing, the record 

demonstrates that Amazon was unaware of any illegal activity and had 

to investigate internally when APHIS first contacted Amazon. Rieder 

Decl. Ex. 11. Once Amazon learned of the unlawful conduct, it promptly 

suspended the third-party sellers’ accounts. Liu Decl. ¶¶ 37–39; see also 

K & S P’ship, 952 F.2d at 978 (rejecting secondary liability where “the 

record is deficient of probative evidence that Continental had even a 

general awareness of an Eagle or Penn Square illegal scheme”).  

No evidence of substantial assistance. APHIS offered no evidence 

that Amazon substantially assisted the third-party sellers’ wrongdoing. 

It identified no actions taken by Amazon to transport the products into 

the country or to assist the third parties in shipping the products. It was 

undisputed that third parties packaged these products, addressed them 

to Amazon, described the contents, transported the products from abroad 

into the United States, handled the shipping and Customs paperwork, 

and paid for the shipping. Liu Dec. ¶ 36. Amazon had no control or 

supervision over their importation.  

The Department’s finding of substantial assistance rested entirely 

on Amazon’s providing lawful services that third parties sought to use: 

The many benefits, just recounted, that third-party sellers 

receive through FBA and SOA did substantially assist. The 

USCA Case #22-1052      Document #1954416            Filed: 07/11/2022      Page 61 of 123



 

-47- 
 

prohibited items were shipped from China and Thailand to 

Amazon as part of the third-parties’ participation in the FBA 

program. Amazon contracted with the third-party sellers to 

store their products while they were promoted to customers 

in the United States through [A]mazon.com. Amazon 

contracted to enable the third-party sellers to reach customers 

in the United States through Respondent’s website. Amazon 

provided, or intended to provide, the many benefits of its 

services to the third-party sellers at issue in this proceeding. 

The facts in the record show that Amazon did substantially 

assist the importation. 

Order at 29. These “benefits” are the services that Amazon offers to 

millions of third-party sellers in the United States and abroad. It was 

undisputed that these services are entirely lawful.  

The “ordinary understanding of culpable assistance to a wrongdoer 

… requires a desire to promote the wrongful venture’s success.” Doe v. 

GTE Corp., 347 F.3d 655, 659 (7th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted). There is 

no evidence that Amazon directed its business services toward promoting 

any unlawful importation by the three sellers at issue. To the contrary, 

the record shows that Amazon takes extensive measures to educate 

sellers about their responsibility to legally import their products into the 

United States and that it promptly suspended these sellers’ accounts 

when it learned of the violations. Liu Decl. ¶¶ 21–27, 37–39 & Exs. 5–10; 

see also Amacker v. Renaissance Asset Mgmt. LLC, 657 F.3d 252, 257 (5th 

Cir. 2011) (“The merchants did no more than execute regular trades 

requested by Ramunno, who represented that he was trading for his own 
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personal accounts…. The routine execution of trades does not amount to 

substantial assistance.”). 

III. The Department misapplied statutory penalty factors in imposing

the maximum penalty.

The Department imposed the maximum civil penalty on Amazon 

despite (i) the absence of any evidence that Amazon knew of any 

wrongdoing by the third parties or intended to assist in it, (ii) Amazon’s 

cooperation in APHIS’s investigation of the third parties’ shipments, and 

(iii) the absence of prior violations. Its principal justifications were that 

Amazon is big and that all importation violations inherently pose a grave 

risk to agriculture.  

The Department made two main legal errors in its penalty 

determination. First, it improperly applied the mandatory “nature” and 

“gravity” factors by failing to consider all the circumstances relevant to 

this case and assuming that every violation of the AHPA and PPA has 

high severity. Second, it improperly relied on Amazon’s size and ability 

to pay as aggravating factors rather than neutral ones. The resulting 

truncated penalty framework, under which any alleged violation by 

Amazon would merit the maximum penalty, is “arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of direction, or otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2)(A); see also Affum, 566 F.3d at 1161. 

The Department misapplied the “nature” and “gravity” factors. The 

Department did not address the nature and gravity of the alleged 
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violations in the circumstances of this case. It simply presumed that “the 

nature of Amazon’s violations are of serious concern” because “the 

regulations promulgated pursuant to the AHPA and PPA are designed to 

prevent the introduction of highly contagious diseases into the United 

States.” Order at 32 (cleaned up). Similarly, it presumed “that the gravity 

of the violations is great” because the products “posed the risk of 

spreading disease intended for sale through [A]mazon.com to consumers 

in the United States.” Order at 34.  

“An agency must … select an appropriate disciplinary sanction 

based on the specific facts of the particular case before it” and “may not 

automatically impose a fixed penalty for a specific category of misconduct 

regardless of individual factors.” Parsons v. U.S. Dep’t of Air Force, 707 

F.2d 1406, 1410 (D.C. Cir. 1983); see also In re: Jose Lopez Garcia, 67 

Agric. Dec. 1321, 1322 (U.S.D.A. 2008) (rejecting proposed penalty 

because APHIS had merely “stat[ed] that Respondent’s actions 

undermine USDA programs, and emphasiz[ed] the need for deterrence”). 

Congress instructed the Department to “take into account the 

nature, circumstance, extent, and gravity of the violation” in determining 

a penalty. 7 U.S.C. §§ 7734(b)(2), 8313(b)(2). That requires consideration 

of many “specific facts” that the Department largely overlooked. Parsons, 

707 F.2d at 1410; see also In re: All. Airlines, P.Q. Docket No. 04-0009, 

2005 WL 1649008, at *7 (U.S.D.A. July 5, 2005) (“the sanction in each 
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case will be determined by examining … all relevant circumstances”). 

Those facts include:  

 The plant and animal products at issue belonged to third-party 

sellers and were procured, packed, and shipped by third-party 

sellers. Amazon was the addressee and was not involved in 

shipping the products into the United States. Liu Decl. ¶¶ 35–36. 

 The third-party sellers violated their contracts with Amazon, 

which expressly conditioned use of Amazon’s online marketplace 

and services on compliance with all import laws and regulations. 

Liu Decl. ¶¶ 13–20. 

 Amazon enforced its contracts with the third-party sellers by 

suspending their accounts and removing their offers from 

Amazon.com. Liu Decl. ¶¶ 37–39. 

 Amazon assisted APHIS with the underlying investigation by 

providing not only the information requested by APHIS, but also 

other information and leads identified by Amazon. Liu Decl. ¶ 40; 

see supra, pp. 9–11.  

 Amazon took additional steps to identify unknown packages and 

other third-party violators.  Liu Decl. ¶ 40; see supra, pp. 9–11. 

 Amazon had no knowledge of the third parties’ unlawful 

importation. See supra, section II (pp. 44–46). 

The Department also failed to consider any specific facts on the 

gravity of the alleged violations. It simply concluded that the “nature” of 
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the alleged violation was “serious” and its “gravity” was “great” based on 

the statutes’ remedial purpose and the hypothetical harm of an outbreak. 

Order at 32, 34. Under that reasoning, the “gravity” of a violation would 

support imposing the maximum penalty in every case, since the AHPA 

and PPA are always “designed to prevent the introduction of highly 

contagious diseases into the United States” and there will be hypothetical 

serious harm arising from any importation. Order at 32. Congress would 

not have required the Department to evaluate particular factors in 

assessing a penalty if the analysis were identical in every case. See 

Kaseman v. District of Columbia, 444 F.3d 637, 642 (D.C. Cir. 2006) 

(“[S]tatutes should be interpreted to avoid … unreasonable results, or 

unjust or absurd consequences” (cleaned up)).  

The end result is that the Department “automatically impose[d] a 

fixed penalty for a specific category of misconduct” contrary to the 

statutory text and this Court’s and the Department’s case law. That is 

not permitted. Parsons, 707 F.2d at 1410; see also Nat’l Indep. Coal 

Operator’s Ass’n v. Morton, 494 F.2d 987, 989 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (holding 

that “the Secretary must consider” all six factors in assessing a penalty 

under the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act), aff’d sub nom. Nat’l 

Indep. Coal Operators’ Ass’n v. Kleppe, 423 U.S. 388 (1976); Loc. 2578, 

Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps. v. Gen. Serv. Admin., 711 F.2d 261, 264 (D.C. 

Cir. 1983) (remanding to agency given “the arbitrator’s complete failure 

independently to consider the severity of the penalty imposed”); accord 
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Hutto Stockyard, Inc. v. USDA, 903 F.2d 299, 305–06 (4th Cir. 1990) 

(vacating penalty order for failure to consider all mandatory factors 

under the Packers and Stockyards Act, and stressing the “need for full 

consideration of these equally important factors”); Holiday Food Serv., 

Inc. v. USDA, 820 F.2d 1103, 1105 (9th Cir. 1987) (“[I]mposition of a 

penalty without consideration of all relevant factors is improper.”); 

Corder v. United States, 107 F.3d 595, 597 (8th Cir. 1997) (“[M]any 

statutes authorizing civil fines carefully prescribe the factors an agency 

must consider in imposing such penalties, and reviewing courts ensure 

that agencies obey those statutory mandates.”). 

Reliance on Amazon’s size and ability to pay. The Department 

justified its penalty in part by Amazon’s size and ability to pay. ALJ 

Order at 41; see Order at 35. Under that logic, big companies would 

always be subjected to higher penalties based simply on size, regardless 

of the underlying violation.  

It is well-settled that the ability to pay and continue in business are 

mitigating rather than aggravating factors, as the Department’s own 

precedent recognizes: 

[W]ith regard to the imposition of a civil penalty, the 

Secretary consider[s] a respondent’s ability to pay and to 

continue to do business, [which] simply provides respondents 

with the opportunity to present evidence through which they 

seek to mitigate a civil penalty. This has been the Secretary’s 

unbroken interpretation of this provision since the inception 
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of the Act nearly twenty years and several hundred 

enforcement cases ago. … The nature of the regulatory 

scheme under the Act makes a person’s financial resources 

irrelevant to the violations charged[.] … The Secretary can, 

however, via the Judicial Officer or the Administrative Law 

Judge, make an equitable review of financial information 

provided by a respondent in an effort to reduce a civil penalty. 

In re: A. P. “Sonny” Holt, Richard Wall, & Wayne Putman, 49 Agric. Dec. 

853, 866–67 (U.S.D.A. 1990) (emph. added) (discussing substantively 

identical language under Horse Protection Act); see also In re: St. Johns 

Shipping Co., Inc., & Bobby L. Shields, 66 Agric. Dec. 571, 578–79 

(U.S.D.A. 2005) (“A violator’s inability to pay a civil penalty is a 

mitigating circumstance to be considered for the purpose of determining 

the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed in plant quarantine 

cases[.]” (emph. added)); In re: Garland E. Samuel, A.Q. Docket No. 98-

00002, 57 Agric. Dec. 905, 1998 WL 556345, at *4 (U.S.D.A. Aug. 17, 

1998) (same).   

The Department claims that it did not increase the statutory 

penalty based on Amazon’s ability to pay, Order at 35, but it does not 

explain how it could have reached the maximum penalty amount where 

the other two discretionary factors—degree of culpability and history of 

prior violations—weighed in Amazon’s favor. Cf. Morall v. DEA, 412 F.3d 

165, 181 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (holding that a penalty constituted “arbitrary 

decisionmaking” where “DEA offered no explanation for its decision to 

revoke Dr. Morall’s registration while declining to revoke the registration 
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of any other physician in a comparable context, or even under 

significantly more troubling circumstances”). As the Department 

acknowledged, “Amazon does not have a history of previous violations 

under the AHPA and PPA.” Order at 35. And Amazon had no knowledge 

of unlawful conduct so the “degree of culpability” was zero. Compare ALJ 

Order at 41 (“Knowledge is not a factor in this case.”), with In re: Sweeny 

S. Gillette, 75 Agric. Dec. 363, 394 (U.S.D.A. 2016) (“Respondent also is 

highly culpable for his violations of the regulations because the 

Complainant’s evidence demonstrates that he was fully aware of the 

regulatory requirements for the interstate movement of cattle but 

violated them anyway.”); In re: David M. Zimmerman, AWA Docket No. 

98-005, 57 Agric. Dec. 1038, 1998 WL 799196, at *10 (U.S.D.A. Nov. 18, 

1998) (“Respondent’s conduct over a period of 5 months reveals consistent 

disregard for and unwillingness to abide by the requirements of the 

Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations.” (cleaned up)).  

CONCLUSION

The Department’s Order has no basis in the statutes it purported 

to apply. Applying the proper meaning of the “aid, abet, cause, or induce” 

language, summary judgment was required for Amazon because the 

Department offered no evidence that Amazon knew of or substantially 

assisted the third-party sellers’ unlawful importations. The Court 

therefore should direct entry of judgment for Amazon.  
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ADDENDUM B

Compl. Date Location

Third

Party

Seller Item

Record

Cite

¶¶ 2.1–

2.8 

3/24/15 to 

3/31/15 

International 

Mail Facility, 

San 

Francisco, CA 

Yummy 

House 

Hong 

Kong 

13 boxes 

of beef, 

pork, 

and 

poultry 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 3–6 

¶¶ 2.10–

2.12 

6/11/15 Amazon 

fulfillment 

center, 

Murfreesboro, 

TN 

Yummy 

House 

Hong 

Kong 

1 box of 

pork 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 13–14 

¶¶ 2.13 – 

2.16 

6/11/15 Independent 

warehouse, 

Passaic, NJ 

Yummy 

House 

Hong 

Kong 

16 boxes 

of beef, 

pork, 

and 

poultry 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 13 

¶ 2.17 7/9/2015 International 

Mail Facility, 

Los Angeles, 

CA 

Deng 

Dan 

3 boxes 

of 

poultry 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 17 

¶ 2.18 3/18/2016 International 

Mail Facility, 

San 

Francisco, CA 

X-

Sampa 

Co. 

3 boxes 

of Kaffir 

leaves 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 19 

¶¶ 2.19 – 

2.23 

5/11/16 to 

5/31/16 

Amazon 

fulfillment 

centers 

(various) 

X-

Sampa 

Co. 

Various 

Kaffir 

products 

Rieder 

Decl. 

Ex. 21 
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